Uldaho Law

Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

10-19-2017

State v. Herrera Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44596

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case

Joseph Duane Herrera appeals from his conviction for second degree murder entered following a second jury trial, for the shooting death of his girlfriend. Previously in this case, Mr. Herrera was charged with second degree murder and convicted after a three-day jury trial in 2013. He was sentenced to life, with twenty-two years fixed. He appealed, and his conviction was vacated by the Idaho Supreme Court in 2015. He was retried, and again convicted of second degree murder in 2016. This time, a different sentencing judge sentenced him to life, with thirty years fixed.

On appeal, Mr. Herrera asserts that the prosecutor vindictively prosecuted him and misled the district court when it sought to amend the information to add a firearm sentencing enhancement and vindictively prosecuted him after trial by arguing for an increased sentence based on the dismissed sentencing enhancement; the district court erred in failing to provide him with a full and fair opportunity to explain the conflict he was having with his attorney; the district court abused its discretion when it overruled his foundation objections to Detective Berger's testimony on gunshot residue analysis because Detective Berger did not have practical experience or special knowledge that would qualify him as an expert on gunshot residue analysis; and the prosecutor committed misconduct during closing arguments. The accumulation of the errors deprived him of his right to a fair trial. Finally, Mr. Herrera asserts that the second sentencing judge vindictively increased his sentence by eight years fixed.

Statement of Facts

Midmorning on December 25, 2011, Joseph Herrera's mother heard a loud bang from the upstairs of her home. (*See* Tr. (Vol. II), p.436, L.24 – p.437, L.15.) When she went upstairs, she

saw her son Joseph, holding a handgun, and he was screaming hysterically. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.437, L.16 – p.438, L.1, p.447, Ls.23-25.) Mr. Herrera told his mom he had accidentally shot his girlfriend. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.438, Ls.2-4.) When she saw the injured woman lying on the bedroom floor, Mrs. Herrera yelled to her husband to call 911, and told her son to bring her some towels. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.438, Ls.5-23.) Mrs. Herrera sat with the injured woman until the paramedics arrived. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.440, Ls.16-20, p.448, Ls.4-8.)

During the time his dad was on the phone with 911, Mr. Herrera took the phone from him in order to answer the dispatch operator's questions. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.438, L.21 – p.439, L.9, p.614, Ls.16-21; Defendant's Ex. A.) He also called and spoke to his girlfriend's family on the phone. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.614, Ls.6-25.) When Officer Scott Castles arrived at the house, he saw Joseph Herrera outside the house, hysterically screaming. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.417, L.16 – p.418, L.7.) Mr. Herrera remained at the house, hysterically shrieking and yelling—freaking out—until well after the ambulance left. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.430, Ls.3-7, p.461, Ls.12-21.) Soon after the ambulance left, Mr. Herrera's girlfriend's family arrived, armed and threatening Mr. Herrera and his family. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.459, L.14 – p.460, L.11.) At that point, Officer Castles told the still hysterical Mr. Herrera to go, meaning away from the risk posed by the armed family members. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.418, L.10 – p.420, L.9, p.428, L.15 – p.430, L.7, p.639, Ls.7-16.)

Mr. Herrera's girlfriend sustained a gunshot wound to the right side of her upper forehead, and later died of her injuries. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.472, L.1 – p.473, L.21, p.519, Ls.13-20.) A semi-automatic .380 handgun was identified as the gun involved in the shooting accident. (Tr. (Vol. I), p.337, Ls.16-25, p.338, Ls.6-23; Plaintiff's Ex. 2.) Mr. Herrera told law enforcement that when he was pulling back the slide to make sure the gun was not loaded, the

gun went off. (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol I), p.224, Ls.18-22; Tr. (Vol. I), p.342, Ls.7-15.)¹ When interviewed later that day, he told law enforcement that he had ejected the ammunition magazine² and pulled back the slide, and he did not believe there was a round in the chamber of the gun. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.500, Ls.10-14, p.562, Ls.17-25, p.564, L.1 – p.568, L.6, p.632, Ls.4-11; Plaintiff's Ex. 10.)

However, at the first trial,³ Mr. Herrera testified that he had pointed the gun towards himself after telling his girlfriend he would rather kill himself than go to her parents' house. (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. II), p.127, L.22 – p.128, L.5.) He testified she then grabbed the barrel of the gun, pulled it, and it went towards her and went off. (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. II), p.128, Ls.5-10.)

During the first trial, four of the State's witnesses provided testimony as to matters that had been expressly excluded by the district court at a pre-trial hearing. Specifically, the district court had excluded evidence and testimony by third parties relating to statements allegedly made by Mr. Herrera's girlfriend regarding her relationship with Mr. Herrera, and events involving Mr. Herrera. (Tr. July 13, 2012, p.155, Ls.1-12.)⁴ Although the district court ruled that some statements were admissible to show the girlfriend's state of mind, at trial, the State's witnesses

_

¹ For ease of reference, citations to the first trial—the one held in 2013 and cited in the prior appeal, No. 41494—will be designated as "2013 Trial Tr." The 2016 trial transcript referenced in this appeal, No. 44596, will not contain a distinguishing date but will simply be designated as "Tr."

² Although the interviewers in Plaintiff's Exhibit 10 used the terms "clip" and "magazine" interchangeably, they are different items. (*See* Tr. (Vol. II), p.584, Ls.3-6.) As Detective Van Leuven explained during the second trial, the correct terminology is to call the metal casing that encases the bullets a "magazine." (Tr. (Vol. II), p.800, Ls.12-25.)

³ On November 15, 2016, the Idaho Supreme Court ordered the Clerk's Record and Reporter's Transcripts of the prior appeal, No. 41494, to be augmented to include the transcripts and record in this appeal. (Limited R., p.463.)

⁴ The transcript from the July 13, 2012 hearing was part of the transcripts prepared for the prior appeal, No. 41494.

testified to specific bad acts the district court had excluded. (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. I), p.312, Ls.9-16, p.331, L.10 – p.332, L.7; 2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. II), p.16, L.15 – p.17, L.7, p.64, L.3 – p.66, L.21.)

At the first trial, the prosecutor tried the case based on the theory that the shooting was accidental—Mr. Herrera had apparently ejected the magazine before the fatal single shot was fired and was not aware that the gun still retained a live round in the chamber. The final words in the State's rebuttal closing at the first trial were, "He pulled that gun out, he put it to her head. *He thought he took the bullets out.* He pulled the trigger and the bullet came out. That's murder in the second degree." (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. III), p.97, Ls.15-19 (emphasis added).)

After the jury in the first trial found Mr. Herrera guilty of second degree murder (2013 Trial Tr. (Vol. III), p.101, L.18 – p.103, L.24), the district court imposed a unified sentence of life imprisonment, with twenty-two years fixed. (2013 Tr. (Vol. I), p.389, L.24 – p.390, L.1.)

Mr. Herrera appealed, and the Idaho Supreme Court vacated the judgment of conviction. *State v. Herrera*, 159 Idaho 615 (2015). The Court held the testimony elicited from the four witnesses discussed above unfairly prejudiced Mr. Herrera. *See id.* at 620-24. The Court noted the testimony, purportedly offered as bearing on the girlfriend's state of mind, instead "appears to have been intended to show previous bad acts of Herrera." *Id.* at 624.

The Idaho Supreme Court further stated, "[e]ven more concerning is the rather transparent violation of the limitations imposed by the district court on the testimony of these witnesses. The order specifically excluded testimony regarding Herrera's prior bad acts, which shed little light on the charges he was facing." *Id.* However, "the State asked questions that appeared to be deliberately designed to elicit the exact testimony that the district court had specifically prohibited." *Id.* The Court held, "[a] party's deliberate violation of an order

excluding evidence with little relevance but with great potential for prejudice is an attack on the fairness of the proceeding and cannot be countenanced." *Id.* Thus, the Court vacated Mr. Herrera's judgment of conviction and remanded the case for further proceedings. *Id.*

On remand, the district court granted Mr. Herrera's motion to disqualify the judge and reassigned the case to a different district judge, the Honorable John Mitchell. (Limited R., pp.17-21.) A different prosecutor took over the State's side of the case, and new defense counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Herrera. (*See* Limited R., pp.9, 22-23.) The district court scheduled the case for a second trial. (*See* Limited R., p.22.)

Before his second trial, Mr. Herrera filed a written motion to replace his defense counsel. (Limited R., pp.56-57.) At a hearing on the motion, Mr. Herrera's counsel clarified the bases for the motion were that defense counsel would not have adequate time to devote to the case, and Mr. Herrera told the court that defense counsel had represented his girlfriend's siblings on unrelated misdemeanor charges. (*See* Tr. (Vol. I), p.73, L.15 – p.80, L.5.) After the hearing, the district court denied the motion. (Tr. (Vol. I), p.80, L.6 – p.81, L.9.)

Prior to the second trial, the prosecutor filed a motion to amend the Information to add a sentencing enhancement because a firearm was used in commission of the crime. (Limited R., pp.58-62.) Over Mr. Herrera's objection, the district court granted the State's motion to amend the Information to add a firearm sentencing enhancement pursuant to I.C. § 19-2520. (Limited R., pp.97-105, 117-18.) The State sought the sentencing enhancement because it was concerned that, without the evidence excluded by the Idaho Supreme Court's decision, there would be a greater possibility for the jury to find Mr. Herrera guilty of manslaughter. (*See* Tr. (Vol. I), p.35, Ls.1-18.) The State argued the amendment "simply allows the potential top end of the sentence to go to 25 or 30 years, if manslaughter is found," and it wanted "the

opportunity to argue for the same determinate sentence" of twenty-two years that Mr. Herrera received after the first trial. (Limited R., pp.58-59.) In granting the State's motion to amend, the district court observed, "the State of Idaho makes it clear it is not seeking an *increased* penalty." (Limited R., p.100.)

At the second trial, the State called an investigating officer, Detective Paul Berger, to testify as to his interview of Mr. Herrera and Mr. Herrera's description of how the accident occurred. (See generally Tr. (Vol. II), pp.530-587: Plaintiff's Ex. 10.) Over defense counsel's objections, the State later recalled Detective Berger to inquire "as to whether or not there was any gunshot residue analysis done upon the body of [Mr. Herrera's girlfriend], whether there was any gunshot residue analysis done upon the defendant." (See Tr. (Vol. II), p.693, L.19 – p.694, L.2.) Detective Berger testified no analyses had been done, because "[w]e already know that he was the one that fired the gun based on his confession that he shot the gun." (Tr. (Vol. II), p.703, Ls.10-13.) He also testified there were no gunshot residue tests conducted on Mr. Herrera's girlfriend, "[b]ecause we already know that she had been shot in the head with a firearm." (Tr. (Vol. II), p.703, Ls.14-19.) However, when asked to "please describe the limitations of gunshot residue as a forensic tool," Detective Berger testified, "when you do a gunshot residue analysis, it doesn't quantify how much is on one person. It just tells you that gunshot residue is present, so there's really—it sometimes is difficult to determine who was the one that fired the gun, but if they're in close proximity, they'll both show that they have gunshot residue, just not a total quantity of what was on there." (Tr. (Vol. II), p.704, L.4 – p.705, L.3.)

Mr. Herrera did not testify in his defense at the second trial. (Supp. Tr., p.16, L.7 – p.18, L.12.)⁵ However, the State read Mr. Herrera's testimony from the first trial into the record. (*See generally* Tr. (Vol. II), pp.590-668.)

At the second trial, one of the State's law enforcement witnesses testified that normally, when the slide of a gun is pulled back, the bullet in the chamber is ejected. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.566, Ls.5-9.) However, the gun used in the incident was tested, and one of the State's witnesses testified the slide feature of the gun malfunctioned five out of fifty attempts—not ejecting the bullet when the slide was pulled back. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.916, Ls.13-22.) The ejected magazine was photographed with blood on it, next to a nightstand, but some distance away from the large blood stain. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.766, L.18 – p.767, L.5; Plaintiff's Exs. 7, 8, 45; Defendant's Ex. C.)

During closing arguments in the second trial, the prosecutor argued that the shooting was not an accident, in contrast to the prosecutor's arguments in the first trial, and that Mr. Herrera was faking his extreme distress and hysteria following the shooting. (*See* Supp. Tr., p.58, Ls.11-16.) Alternatively, the prosecutor claimed that it was methamphetamine that was responsible for Mr. Herrera's extreme distress, despite trial testimony to the contrary. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.935, L.16 – p.936, L.3; Supp. Tr., p.57, Ls.12-21, p.58, Ls.11-16, p.59, Ls.10-14.) The prosecutor also called Mr. Herrera a liar or told the jury Mr. Herrera was fabricating over twenty times. (*See* Supp. Tr., p.44, L.15 – p.60, L.4, p.81, L.10 – p.84, L.4.)

The prosecutor argued to the jury that Mr. Herrera did not provide evidence of his innocence. (Supp. Tr., p.57, Ls.12-20, p.59, Ls.10-14, p.79, Ls.19-22.) The prosecutor told the jury multiple times that the fact that it was a contact gunshot wound was enough for them to find

⁵ The Supplemental Transcript prepared after the Appellant's objection to the record will henceforth be referred to as "Supp. Tr."

Mr. Hrrera guilty of murder. (Supp. Tr., p.44, Ls.10-14, p.83, Ls.20-22, p.90, Ls.8-11.) Additionally, the prosecutor told the jury that "a contact wound to the head with a defendant who lies equals murder by express malice." (Supp. Tr., p.89, L.25 – p.90, L.2.) The prosecutor also represented to the jury that there were "people kicking stuff around" in the bedroom, although there had been no trial testimony that this occurred. (Supp. Tr., p.87, L.22 – p.88, L.3.)

The jury in the second trial found Mr. Herrera guilty of second degree murder. (Supp. Tr., p.107, Ls.1-11.) Immediately after trial, the district court granted the State's motion to dismiss the sentencing enhancement. (Supp. Tr., p.110, Ls.4-15.)

At the sentencing hearing, the State argued the district court could consider the dismissed sentencing enhancement when deciding the length of the fixed term of the sentence. (*See* Tr. (Vol. II), p.996, L.13 – p.997, L.25.) In imposing the sentence, Judge Mitchell observed, "[t]he greatest thing that impacts my decision compared to [the first sentencing judge's] decision is a couple more years have ticked on and we still don't know what happened the morning of December 25th, 2011, and that's the way it will remain forever." (Tr. (Vol. II), p.1022, L.25 – p.1023, L.4.) The district court imposed a unified sentence of life imprisonment, with thirty years fixed. (Tr. (Vol. II), p.1019, L.25 – p.1020, L.3.)

Mr. Herrera timely appealed from the judgment of conviction. (Limited R., pp.449-452, 464-469.)

<u>ISSUES</u>

- I. Did the State vindictively prosecute Mr. Herrera by adding a firearm sentencing enhancement, and did the State commit misconduct when it misled the district court in order to get its motion to amend the complaint granted?
- II. Did the district court err in failing to conduct a sufficient inquiry of Mr. Herrera and his trial counsel upon Mr. Herrera's request for substitute counsel?
- III. Did the district court abuse its discretion when it overruled Mr. Herrera's foundation objections to Detective Berger's testimony on gunshot residue analysis?
- IV. Did the State commit prosecutorial misconduct in its closing arguments?
- V. Did the accumulation of errors deprive Mr. Herrera of his right to a fair trial?
- VI. Did the district court impose a vindictive sentence after the second trial?

ARGUMENT

I.

Mr. Herrera's Right To Due Process Of Law Was Violated By Prosecutorial Vindictiveness
When The Prosecutor Amended The Information To Add A New Sentencing Enhancement And
When He Argued For Its Consideration At Sentencing; The Prosecutor Committed Misconduct
When He Misled The Court As To The Purpose Of The Enhancement

A. Introduction

The Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment prohibits prosecutors and courts from punishing people for exercising their legal rights. In the present case, the district court permitted the State to amend the Information, to allege a new sentencing enhancement for use of a firearm, after Mr. Herrera successfully challenged his conviction in an earlier appeal. (R., pp.42-43; Limited R., pp.117-118.) While the State dismissed the enhancement, as promised, it proceeded to use the basis for the enhancement to seek a penalty far beyond the sentence after the first trial. In seeking the amendment and in using the basis for the enhancement to convince the district court to increase the sentence, the State vindictively prosecuted Mr. Herrera. In urging the district court to allow the amendment to include the firearm sentencing enhancement, the prosecutor made false assurances to the district court on which it relied, constituting prosecutorial misconduct.

B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

This Court exercises free review on the issue of whether a defendant's due process rights have been violated in light of the facts of the case. *State v. Tucker*, 138 Idaho 296, 298 (Ct. App. 2003); *State v. Crowe*, 131 Idaho 109, 111 (1998). In examining whether the district court imposed a vindictive sentence, the reviewing court examines the totality of the circumstances and the entire record of the case. *State v. Murphy*, 133 Idaho 489, 494 (Ct. App. 1999).

For alleged acts of prosecutorial misconduct followed by a contemporaneous objection, appellate courts engage in a two-step analysis, determining: (1) whether misconduct occurred; and (2) whether the misconduct was harmless. *State v. Perry*, 150 Idaho 209, 219 (2010).

C. Mr. Herrera Had A Due Process Right To Challenge His Conviction And The Firearm Sentencing Enhancement Constituted Vindictive Prosecution

Mr. Herrera's right to due process was violated when the prosecutor charged him with a new sentencing enhancement, after he exercised his right to a new trial. His due process right was again violated when the prosecutor used the (now dismissed) sentencing enhancement to argue to the district court that Mr. Herrera's fixed sentence should be increased given the policy purposes of the firearm sentencing enhancement. Each of these acts constitute a separate vindictive prosecution.

As the Idaho Court of Appeals has observed, "[t]he Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause prohibits the government from punishing a person for doing what the law plainly allows him to do." *State v. Rodriguez-Perez*, 129 Idaho 29, 32 (Ct. App. 1996) (citing *Bordenkircher v. Hayes*, 434 U.S. 357, 363 (1978)). A vindictive prosecution is one "in which a person is singled out under a law or regulation because the person has exercised a constitutionally protected right." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 1258 (Bryan A. Garner, 8th Ed., West 2004). Courts have similarly noted that "prosecutorial vindictiveness" is a legal term of art with "a precise and limited meaning" that refers to "a situation in which the government acts against a defendant in response to the defendant's prior exercise of constitutional or statutory rights." *See, e.g., United States v. Meyer*, 810 F.2d 1242, 1245 (D.C. Cir. 1987).

The U.S. Supreme Court in *Bordenkircher* succinctly summed up the nature of a due process violation in the form of a vindictive sentence or vindictive prosecution:

To punish a person because he has done what the law plainly allows him to do is a due process violation of the most basic sort, and for an agent of the State to pursue a course of action whose objective is to penalize a person's reliance on his legal rights is "patently unconstitutional."

Bordenkircher v. Hayes, 434 U.S. 357, 363 (1978) (citation omitted).

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