# Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-14-2017

# State v. Herrera Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44596

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

Herrera also makes three claims of vindictiveness that were not preserved by objection. He argues that the prosecutor asked for a vindictive sentence by recommending

a sentence of life with 30 years fixed, which was more than the previously imposed sentence of life with 22 years fixed. (Appellant's brief, pp. 18-20.) This claim fails because Herrera did not object to the recommendation on this ground below, and he does not assert fundamental error on appeal. Herrera also argues the prosecutor obtained the court's ruling that the amendment was not vindictive by a fraud on the court when he made an "implied promise" that he would not use the firearm enhancement to enhance a murder conviction and then breached the "implied promise" when he argued at sentencing that use of a firearm was an aggravating fact in this case, which somehow shows the prosecutor "lied." (Appellant's brief, pp. 20-24.) This argument fails because it is not preserved and Herrera has failed to claim, much less show, fundamental error. Herrera also argues the district conviction. (Appellant's brief, pp. 64-75.) This claim fails because there is no presumption of vindictiveness and Herrera has failed to show fundamental error.

## B. <u>Standard Of Review</u>

Appellate courts employ a bifurcated standard of reviewing due process claims on appeal, deferring to the trial court's factual findings but freely reviewing the application of the law to the facts found. <u>State v. Schevers</u>, 132 Idaho 786, 788, 979 P.2d 659, 661 (Ct. App. 1999); <u>State v. Gray</u>, 129 Idaho 784, 796, 932 P.2d 907, 919 (Ct. App. 1997). "An allegation of vindictiveness presents a subtle and narrow question. To determine whether the sentence was vindictively imposed, [the Court] look[s] to the totality of the circumstances and examines the words and actions of the judge as a whole." <u>Stedtfeld v. State</u>, 114 Idaho 273, 276, 755 P.2d 1311, 1314 (Ct. App. 1988).

Claims of vindictive prosecution and sentencing not raised below are generally reviewed for fundamental error. <u>State v. Baker</u>, 153 Idaho 692, 695, 290 P.3d 1284, 1287 (Ct. App. 2012) ("Because there was no objection before the trial court, we will review Baker's claim of a vindictive sentence, brought for the first time on appeal, for fundamental error."). However, a claim of apparent vindictiveness cannot be raised as fundamental error because no opportunity to rebut has been provided. <u>State v. Ostler</u>, 161 Idaho 350, 352–53, 386 P.3d 491, 493–94 (2016).

# C. <u>Herrera Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Ruling That Amending</u> <u>The Information To Add The Firearm Enhancement Was Not Vindictive</u>

A defendant's due process rights are violated if a "prosecutor vindictively retaliates against a defendant for exercising a legally protected right." <u>Ostler</u>, 161 Idaho at 352, 386 P.3d at 493. "In order to demonstrate prosecutorial vindictiveness, a defendant must show either actual vindictiveness or apparent vindictiveness." <u>Id.</u> To show actual vindictiveness the defendant must "prove objectively that the prosecutor's charging decision was motivated by a desire to punish him for doing something that the law plainly allowed him to do." <u>Id.</u> at 352–53, 386 P.3d at 493–94 (internal quotes omitted). To show apparent vindictiveness a defendant must demonstrate a "realistic likelihood of vindictiveness," which raises "a presumption of vindictiveness, which may be overcome only by objective information in the record." <u>Id.</u> at 353, 386 P.3d at 494 (internal quotations and citation omitted).

Application of this law to the facts shows no error by the district court. The district court looked at cases where the amendment added new charges or increased the potential sentence and concluded the "distinguishing feature in the present case" was that the requested amendment "does not *increase* the potential sentence for the crime Herrera was convicted of in the first trial" because the firearm enhancement "has no effect" on the range of sentencing available to the court for second-degree murder. (R., vol. I, pp. 104-05 (emphasis original).) The district court was "unable to see" how standards of vindictive prosecution prevented adding the firearm enhancement, which could only increase the range of possible sentences for an included offense. (R., vol. I, p. 105.)

The district court was correct. The amendment did not add new charges, nor did it increase the potential penalty if Herrera was again convicted of the charged offense of second-degree murder. Even if the amendment increased the possibility of a greater sentence if there was a conviction on the included offense, such would not be facially punitive of Herrera for his appeal. The record supports the district court's conclusion that the proposed amendment was neither actually nor apparently vindictive.

Herrera first argues the district court erred because the change of prosecutors did not insulate the new prosecutor from vindictiveness. (Appellant's brief, p. 16.) The state agrees that a new prosecutor may not engage in vindictive prosecution (although the change in prosecutors might be *evidence* of a lack of vindictiveness). The argument is irrelevant, however, to the district court's ruling, which was based on the conclusion that the amendment did not increase the number of charges nor the potential punishment for the charged offense.

Herrera next argues that by seeking to increase the potential penalties for the included offense "the prosecutor was seeking to 'protect a sentence' that had been obtained by the initial prosecutor's misconduct in eliciting testimony that the district court had ruled was inadmissible." (Appellant's brief, p. 17.) The state does not discern a cogent argument

related to either apparent or actual vindictiveness in this second point. As noted above, the issue is whether the prosecutor was actually or apparently "motivated by a desire to punish [Herrera] for doing something that the law plainly allowed him to do." Id. at 352–53, 386 P.3d at 493–94 (internal quotes omitted). The prior prosecutor's actions tell us nothing about the present prosecutor's motivations, nor do they undermine the district court's conclusion that an amendment that neither adds new charges nor changes the possible sentencing range of the charged offense does not punish the defendant for appealing.

Herrera's third argument is that the prosecutor's "purported change in circumstances," the increased possibility of a manslaughter conviction, was "fictional." (Appellant's brief, p. 17.) This third argument, like the first two, is irrelevant because the district court determined that the enhancement, because it was neither a new charge nor would affect the length of the sentence on the charged crime, was not actually nor apparently motivated by a desire to punish Herrera for appealing. Whether the prosecutor had a rebuttal for apparent vindictiveness was therefore irrelevant. Even if Herrera had met his initial burden of showing that the prosecutor was apparently vindictive in seeking to add the firearm enhancement, the prosecutor's non-vindictive explanation—that his assessment of the evidence in light of the Idaho Supreme Court's ruling holding evidence at trial inadmissible increased the possibility of manslaughter verdict—was still proper and not "fictional." <u>See Herrera</u>, 159 Idaho at 620-24, 364 P.3d at 1185-89.

Herrera's final argument is that whether he was guilty as charged or guilty of an included offense was a "question for the jury" and because no jury had found him guilty of manslaughter there was no sentence to "protect." (Appellant's brief, pp. 17-18 (quote

original, although unattributed in the brief).) Again, Herrera's argument is irrelevant to the district court's decision that the proposed amendment was not actually or apparently an attempt to punish Herrera for pursuing an appeal.

The district court concluded that the proposed amendment to add the firearm enhancement was not, under the facts of this case, actually or apparently an attempt to punish Herrera for prevailing on appeal. Herrera's arguments fail to address the district court's analysis, and are irrelevant to that analysis. Herrera has therefore failed to show error by the district court.

Even if the district court had erred, such error would necessarily be harmless. Idaho Criminal Rule 52 provides that "[a]ny error, defect, irregularity or variance that does not affect substantial rights must be disregarded." I.C.R. 52. The proper inquiry is whether "the guilty verdict actually rendered in this trial was surely attributable to the error." <u>State v. Joy</u>, 155 Idaho 1, 12, 304 P.3d 276, 286 (2013) (quoting <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 508 U.S. 275, 279 (1993) (emphasis omitted)). "An error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if the Court can conclude, based upon the evidence and argument presented during the trial, that the jury would have reached the same result absent the error." <u>State v. Christiansen</u>, 144 Idaho 463, 471, 163 P.3d 1175, 1183 (2007). The firearm enhancement was dismissed at trial, prior to being considered by the jury, and therefore could not have affected the verdict. Moreover, the sentencing range applicable to the murder conviction was the same with or without the enhancement. Therefore, any conceivable error in allowing the amendment to add the firearm enhancement was necessarily harmless.

D. <u>Herrera Has Failed To Argue, Much Less Show, Fundamental Error In His Non-</u> Preserved Claims Of Vindictive Prosecution And Sentencing

Herrera claims for the first time on appeal<sup>2</sup> that the prosecutor "lied," and possibly violated the requirement of candor to the court under Idaho R. Prof. Conduct 3.3(a)(1), "when he claimed that the firearms enhancement would only be used to protect the original sentence" because that was an "implied promise" he would not "argue[] in favor of an increased penalty based on the intent of the dismissed firearm enhancement at sentencing." (Respondent's brief, p. 20.) This accusation is made with reckless disregard for the truth.

"When prosecutorial misconduct is not objected to at trial, Idaho appellate courts may only order a reversal when the defendant demonstrates that the violation in question qualifies as fundamental error." <u>State v. Perry</u>, 150 Idaho 209, 227, 245 P.3d 961, 979 (2010). To prevail on a claim of fundamental error a defendant must demonstrate (1) violation of an unwaived constitutional right; (2) that the error is clear or obvious and lack of objection was not tactical; and (3) prejudice. <u>Id.</u> at 226, 245 P.3d at 978. "The party asserting a claim of fraud on the court must establish that an unconscionable plan or scheme was used to improperly influence the court's decision and that such acts prevented the losing party from fully and fairly presenting its case or defense." <u>Rae v. Bunce</u>, 145 Idaho 798, 801, 186 P.3d 654, 657 (2008) (internal quotation omitted). Because Herrera makes no argument that the error he claims for the first time on appeal was fundamental, he has necessarily failed to meet his burden.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The objection asserted below was that the state had forfeited any argument based on the firearm enhancement statute by dismissing the enhancement at trial. (Tr., vol. II, p. 996, Ls. 19-22.)

If not barred from consideration, the claim that the prosecutor "breached an implied promise when he argued in favor of an increased penalty based on the intent of the dismissed firearm enhancement at sentencing" (Appellant's brief, p. 20) is specious. It is based on the allegation that the prosecutor "claimed that the firearms enhancement would only be used to protect the original sentence." (Id.) No such claim, much less any "implied promise," is in the record.

The prosecutor argued, in part, that the proposed amendment to add the firearm enhancement was not vindictive because "the State would still like the opportunity to argue for the same determinate sentence" of 22 years if the jury should convict of the included offense of manslaughter. (R., vol. I, p. 59.) At the hearing on the motion the prosecutor represented that he would have included the enhancement in the original information were he the prosecutor at that time. (Tr., vol. I, p. 34, Ls. 19-25.) He further argued that the appeal "limited the evidence that is going to be coming in" and, although the evidence of murder was strong, there was at that time "some possibility of a manslaughter being found." (Tr., vol. I, p. 35, Ls. 1-11.) If the verdict were returned for manslaughter, the state wanted a sentence of "25 or 30 years" "available" "as a matter of law." (Tr., vol. I, p. 35, Ls. 11-18.<sup>3</sup>) The prosecutor's argument centered on what sentence he hoped to seek if Herrera was convicted of manslaughter. He made *no* representations about what sentence the state would recommend if Herrera were convicted of murder, much less

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The complete quote is:

it's important to the State to have the potential, if manslaughter is found by the jury, to be able to have the sentencing range that we would be—or that would be available to the State as a matter of law, and that would be the 25 or 30 years with that sentencing enhancement added to either of the manslaughter—potential manslaughter charges, and that's it.

<sup>(</sup>Tr., vol. I, p. 35, Ls. 11-18.)

"imply" what arguments he would make in support of that recommendation. The accusation that the prosecutor "lied" by means of an "implied promise" is absurd on its face and is based on an unreasonable reading of the prosecutor's motion. The argument fails on all three prongs of the fundamental error test: there was no constitutional violation, by definition an "implied promise" is not clear on the record, and amending to include the later dismissed enhancement did not prejudice Herrera.

Herrera next argues the prosecutor engaged in vindictive prosecution by requesting a sentence of life with 30 years fixed, a sentence with eight more years determinate than the sentence originally imposed. (Appellant's brief, pp. 18-20.) Herrera did not object to the prosecutor's sentencing recommendation on this basis below. The objection asserted in the trial court was that the state had forfeited any argument based on the firearm enhancement statute by dismissing the enhancement at trial. (Tr., vol. II, p. 996, Ls. 19-22.) Because the objection that the recommendation was vindictive was not asserted below, and Herrera does not claim fundamental error when he asserts that theory for the first time on appeal, he has necessarily filed to show fundamental error.

Moreover, any claim of fundamental error is not supported by the record. No clear constitutional violation is established by the record because actual vindictiveness was not proven and, because the issue was not raised below, no theory of apparent vindictiveness was developed. <u>Ostler</u>, 161 Idaho at 354, 386 P.3d at 495 (finding no fundamental error where no apparent vindictiveness shown by record and no opportunity to rebut presumption created by apparent vindictiveness provided). In addition, no showing of prejudice has been made, especially in light of the district court's comments that it had reached its sentence independent of the prosecutor's argument and for a reason other than offered by

the prosecutor. (Tr., vol. II, p. 1021, L. 15 - p. 1022, L. 4 (court was considering sentence of life with 30 years fixed before prosecutor made recommendation); p. 1022, L. 25 - p. 1023, L. 4 (reason for longer fixed time was Herrera's reliance on false versions of events previously given).) Herrera has failed to show fundamental error because he has not attempted to show fundamental error and because the record does not show fundamental error.

Herrera finally argues the district court vindictively imposed a longer sentence of life with 30 years fixed after considering the prosecutor's argument based on a policy of punishing firearm crimes more harshly. (Appellant's brief, pp. 64-75.) This time Herrera acknowledges the lack of an objection and his need to establish fundamental error. (Appellant's brief, p. 67.) He further, correctly, acknowledges that because the second sentencing was conducted by a different judge, no presumption of vindictiveness applies. (Appellant's brief, p. 69 (citing <u>State v. Robbins</u>, 123 Idaho 527, 532, 850 P.2d 176, 181 (1993).) Review of the record in light of the fundamental error standard shows his vindictive sentencing fundamental error claim to be without merit.

The claim of an actual, clear, and prejudicial constitutional violation fails. The sentencing in front of a different judge, as it did in <u>Robbins</u>, "removed any reasonable likelihood of actual vindictiveness in the resentencing." <u>Robbins</u>, 123 Idaho at 531-32, 850 P.2d at 180-81. The district court specifically stated one difference in the evidence before it as opposed to the original sentencing:

The greatest thing that impacts my decision compared to Judge Gibler's decision is a couple more years have ticked on and we still don't know what happened the morning of December 25<sup>th</sup>, 2011, and that's the way it will remain forever.

13

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